IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

RONALD B. VESLEY : CIVIL ACTI ON
V.
DONALD T. VAUGHN, et al . : No. 99-1228

VEMORANDUM AND ORDER

J. M KELLY, J. FEBRUARY , 2001
Presently before the Court is a Renewed Mdtion for Summary
Judgment filed by the Defendants Donald T. Vaughn (*“Vaughn”),
WIlliamD. Conrad (“Conrad”), Tyrone Reddick (“Reddick”), Eric
Thonmpson (*“Thonpson”), Janmes Yankura (“Yankura”), Robert Caval ar
(“Caval ari”) and Richard Eldridge (“Eldridge”) (collectively
referred to as the “Defendants”). The Plaintiff, Ronald B
Wesley (“Wesley”), filed suit in this Court alleging several
violations of his civil rights. This Court granted, in part,
Def endants’ Motion to Dismss pursuant to Federal Rule of G vil
Procedure 12(b)(6). Defendants now seek summary judgnent
pursuant to Federal Rule of G vil Procedure 56(c) on Wsley's
remaining clains. For the follow ng reasons, Defendants’ notion

is granted in part and denied in part.

. BACKGROUND

Accepting as true the evidence of the nonnoving party, and



all inferences that can be drawn therefrom the facts of the case
are as follows. Wsley is an inmate at the Pennsylvania State
Correctional Institution at Gaterford (“Graterford”). The
Defendants are all enployees at Graterford. The genesis of
Wesley’s Conplaint is Gaterford s continued practice of | ocking
t he shower room door at the end of schedul ed shower peri ods.

Wesl ey alleges that he was twice | ocked in the shower, which
exacerbated his asthma and made himsick. Wsley clains that the
guards actions effectively discrimnated against himon the basis
of his disability.?

The first incident occurred on Cctober 19, 1996. According
to the Conplaint, at approximately 7:00 p.m that evening, Wsley
entered the B-Bl ock shower roomat G aterford. Shortly after
Wesl ey entered, Defendant Caval ari | ocked the shower room door.
Upon conpl eting his shower and finding hinself |ocked in, Wsley
began knocking on the door to be let out, but he was not
i mredi ately heard.? Accordingly, no one cane to open the door

for him Unable to either turn down the tenperature of the water

P Plaintiff also claimed that this practice constitutes
cruel and unusual punishrment in violation of the Ei ghth Amendnent
to the United States Constitution. The Court dism ssed that
claim

2 The cell block was very noi sy because the incident
occurred during “block out,” the tinme when the inmates in a cel
bl ock are allowed out of their cells.
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or open a wi ndow, > Wesl ey becane |ightheaded, nunb and dizzy as
the shower filled wwth a thick |layer of steam Another inmate
saw Wesl ey’ s distress and retrieved Defendant Yankura, who

i mredi ately unl ocked and opened the shower door. Wesley took a
few steps, went |inp, began hyperventilating and then suffered an
asthma attack. Wesley was placed on a gurney and two nurses
transported himto the dispensary where he recei ved nedi cal

assi stance. At approximately 10:00 p.m, Wesley returned to his
cell.

Exactly two years |ater, on COctober 19, 1998, Wsley was
again locked in a Gaterford shower. This shower was | ocated in
D- Bl ock, where Wesl ey now resided. Defendants Caval ari and
Yankura, who had been involved in the 1996 incident, were not
stationed in D Bl ock.

When Wesl ey finished showering, at approximately 7:00 p.m,
he tried to | eave the shower but again found hinself | ocked
i nside. The steam quickly accunulated in the shower, hindering
Wesley’s ability to breathe and causi ng nunbness in his

extremties. As a result, he was unable to knock at the door for

3 According to the Conplaint, the inmates have no control
over the hot and cold water valves. It is unclear, however, why
Wesley did not sinply turn the water off. 1In any event, it seens
that the only way to reduce the build-up of steamis to open the
wi ndow or the door. That night the door was | ocked and \Wesl ey
coul d not open the wi ndow because the knob | acked a “carter pin,”
causing it to loosely spin in his hand w thout engaging the
wi ndow.



assi stance.* Wesley began hyperventilating and suffered anot her
asthma attack. Approximately ten mnutes |ater, Defendant
El dri dge appeared and opened the shower door.® Wsley was able
to walk to his cell where he used his asthma inhaler. About
fifteen mnutes later, the tightness in his chest subsided and
his breathing returned to normal. Wesley then dressed and went
to find Eldridge. He asked Eldridge, “Way did you lock ne in the
shower roomwhen | told you I had asthma?” PIf.’s Conpl. § 30.
El dri dge responded, “I’mjust follow ng orders.” 1d.

The next day, Wesley began a nore formal process of | odging
his conplaint. He first conplained to Defendant Reddi ck, the D
Bl ock Lieutenant. Reddick informed Wesley that the officers
| ocked the shower doors at “closing tinme,” nanely the end of the
shower period, in order to prevent other inmates fromentering
the shower. Dissatisfied with Reddick’s response, Wsley filed
an inmate grievance on Cctober 21, 1998. Defendant Conrad, the
D- Bl ock manager, responded to the grievance stating, “W no
| onger lock inmates in the showers at shift change, 2 p.m”
Plf.”s Conpl., Ex. B. Wsley found this response unaccept abl e,

presumabl y because his incident had occurred during the evening

41t would seemthat the nunbness in Wesley's extremties
al so precluded himfromopening a wi ndow, which ostensibly woul d
not have been broken in D-Block, or fromturning off the water
al t oget her.

> Wesley alleges that Eldridge | ocked himin the shower.
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shower period rather than at the guards’ shift change.® He then
wote a menorandumto Conrad, stating that while the first shift
officers no |l onger |ocked inmates in the shower at the 2:00 p. m
shift change, the second shift officers continued to |ock the
showers after the 7:00 p.m shower period. Wsley subsequently
appeal ed to Defendant Vaughn, the Superintendent of G aterford,
requesting further review of the matter. Vaughn replied that the
showers were only locked at 3:30 p.m for lock up and that the
showers were no | onger |ocked for the 2:00 p.m shift change. He
apparently made no nention of the 7:00 p.m shower period. Stil
dissatisfied wwth his response, Wsley made a fornmal request for
final review by the Central Ofice Review Conmttee of
Gaterford' s policy of |ocking the shower doors at 7:00 p. m
Finally, Wesley filed suit in this Court against the
Defendants in their official and individual capacities seeking
declaratory and injunctive relief, and conpensatory damages,
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (1994) and the Americans wth
Disabilities Act (“ADA"), 42 U.S.C 88 12131-12134 (1994).

Defendants filed a Motion to Dismss pursuant to Federal Rule of

6 Gaterford has three schedul ed shower periods: 9:15 a. m
to 10:30 a.m; 1:15 p.m to 3:30 p.m; and 6:00 ppm to 7:00 p. m
The showers were | ocked after each shower period, and in sone
Bl ocks were also | ocked at 2:00 p.m while the guards changed
their shifts. Both of Wesley's asthma attacks occurred during
t he eveni ng shower periods. Wesley prefers to shower in the
evening after nost of the other inmates have already |eft the
shower. He also takes abnormally |ong showers , contrary to
Graterford policy, he prefers to wash his clothes in the shower.
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Cvil Procedure 12(b)(6), which the Court granted in part and
denied in part. The Court dism ssed all clains arising out of
the October 19, 1996 incident because Wsley filed his Conpl ai nt
well after the tinme prescribed by the applicable statute of
[imtations. The Court dism ssed other clains as well. Three of
Wesl ey’ s clainms did, however, survive that notion to dism ss.
Wesl ey’s remaining clains include: (1) an ADA cl ai m agai nst the
Defendants, in their official capacities, seeking injunctive
relief; (2) a 8 1983 cl ai m based on ADA viol ati ons by Defendants,
intheir official capacities, seeking injunctive relief; and (3)
a 8 1983 cl ai m based on ADA viol ations by Defendants, in their

of ficial and individual capacities, for injunctive relief and
damages. Defendants filed the instant Renewed Mtion for Summary
Judgnent on Wesley’'s remaining clains, which the Court wll now

consi der.

1. STANDARD OF REVI EW

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Cvil Procedure 56, a court nust
grant summary judgnent “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and adm ssions on file, together with the
affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any
mat erial fact and that the noving party is entitled to a judgment
as a matter of law” Fed. R Gv. P. 56(c). The novant bears

the initial burden of showing the basis for its notion. Celotex



Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). |If the novant fails

to meet this burden under Rule 56(c), its notion nust be denied.
| f the novant adequately supports its notion, however, the
burden shifts to the nonnoving party to defend the notion. To
satisfy this burden, the nonnovant nust go beyond the nere
pl eadi ngs by presenting evidence through affidavits, depositions
or adm ssions on file to show that a genuine issue of fact for
trial does exist. 1d. at 324; Fed. R GCv. P. 56(e). An issue
is considered genui ne when, in |ight of the nonnovant’s burden of
proof at trial, the nonnovant produces evidence such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdi ct against the noving party.

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U S. 242, 248 (1986). Wen

deci di ng whet her a genuine issue of fact exists, the court is to
bel i eve the evidence of the nonnovant, and nust draw all
reasonabl e inferences in the light nost favorable to the
nonnovant. |d. at 255. Mdireover, a court nust not consider the
credibility or weight of the evidence presented, even if the
quantity of the noving party’s evidence far outweighs that of the

nonnovant . Big Apple BMN Inc. v. BMNof N. Am, Inc., 974 F. 2d

1358, 1363 (3d Cir. 1992). Nonetheless, a party opposing sunmary
j udgnent nust do nore than rest upon nere allegations, general

deni al s, or vague statenents. Trap Rock Indus., Inc. v. Local

825, 982 F.2d 884, 890 (3d G r. 1992).

| f the nonnoving party nmeets this burden, the notion nust be



denied. If the nonnoving party fails to satisfy its burden,
however, the court nust enter summary judgnent against it on any
i ssue on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.

Celotex, 477 U S. at 322-23.

1. DILSCUSSI ON

A. Def endants Caval ari and Yankura

In response to the Defendants’ Mdtion to Dismss, the Court
dism ssed as tine-barred any clains stemmng fromthe Cctober 19,
1996 incident. Only clainms relating to the October 19, 1998
incident remain. Defendants now ask the Court to dismss al
charges agai nst Defendants Caval ari and Yankura, who were not
involved in the Cctober 19, 1998 incident. Wesley agrees that
all clains against these two individual Defendants should be
di sm ssed. Accordingly, the Court will grant sunmmary judgnent in

favor of Defendants Caval ari and Yankur a.

B. Wesley’'s Cains for Injunctive Relief under the ADA

Wesl ey’ s remai ni ng clai munder the ADA seeks only injunctive
relief in the formof a court order enjoining the Defendants from
| ocking himin the shower. Defendants seek sunmary judgment on

any claimfor injunctive relief because Wsley is no | onger



| ocated in either cell block where he was | ocked in the shower.
The first incident, in 1996, occurred in B-Block. The
Cctober 19, 1998 incident that gives rise to Wesley’'s renai ni ng
clains took place in Gaterford’'s D-Block. Shortly after the
1998 incident, however, Wsley was relocated to E-Bl ock.
Def endants’ contend that, because Wsley has admtted he has
never been |l ocked in the E-Block shower, his claimfor injunctive
relief regarding events that occurred in D-block are noot. Cf.

Weaver v. WIlcox, 650 F.2d 22, 27 n.13 (3d Gr. 1981); WIlson v.

Prasse, 325 F. Supp. 9, 12 (WD. Pa. 1971).

The Court finds that there are genuine issues of materi al
fact regardi ng whether E-Block policies would allow a recurrence
of the incidents that notivated Wesley's Conplaint. That Wesl ey
has not been | ocked in the E-Block shower does not nean that he
could not be in the future. Indeed, noving fromB-Block to D
Bl ock did not prevent Wesley from being | ocked in the shower a
second tinme. Mreover, as Wesley has not left Gaterford
al together, he could always be transferred back to cell block B
or D Finally, to find Wesley’'s clains in this case noot woul d
be to encourage prisons to transfer inmates between cell -Dbl ocks
inathinly veiled attenpt to avoid liability for their alleged
m sf easance. Because the evidence currently before the Court
rai ses genui ne i ssues of material fact concerning E-Block’s

policies, Wsley's clainms for injunctive relief are not noot and



his ADA claimfor injunctive relief can continue.” Accordingly,
the Court will deny the Defendants’ Mtion for Summary Judgnent
wWth regard to Wesley’s claimfor injunctive relief under the

ADA.

C. Section 1983 and the ADA

Two of Wesley clainms that survived the Defendants’ Mtion to
Dismss were 8§ 1983 actions prem sed on alleged violations of the
ADA. These clai nms, brought against the Defendants in their
of ficial and individual capacities, seek both injunctive and
conpensatory relief. The Defendants ask the Court to dismss
t hese cl ai ns because they argue that plaintiffs cannot bring §
1983 actions for violations of the ADA

Section 1983 states that any person acting under col or of
state law that deprives soneone of a federal constitutional or
statutory right shall be liable to the injured party. 42 U S. C
8§ 1983. In this case, the Defendants, prison guards, clearly
constituted persons acting under color of state |aw when they
| ocked Wesley in the shower. The question therefore becones
whet her that action deprived Wesley of a cogni zabl e federal

statutory right that allows redress pursuant to 8§ 1983.

" Because the Defendants have not chal |l enged the
sufficiency of Wsley' s case under the applicable burden shifting
paradi gm the Court will not reach the nerits of his prim facie
case of discrimnation under the ADA
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Section 1983 generally allows for suits when defendants
violate a federal statute. |In certain situations, however, 8
1983 renedies are unavailable. First, certain statutes, though
technically violated, do not establish a substantive federal

right that would give rise to 8 1983 liability. Blessing v.

Firestone, 520 U. S. 329, 340-41 (1997). Second, Congress can
specifically provide that renedi es under 8 1983 are unavail abl e
by either: (1) explicitly precluding 8 1983 renedies in the
statute itself; or (2) creating a conprehensive statutory
enforcenent schene that inplicitly evidences an intent to

forecl ose § 1983 renedi es. M ddl esex County Sewerage Auth. V.

National Sea O amers Ass’'n, 453 U. S. 1, 20 (1981).

The parties seemto agree that the ADA creates an
enforceabl e federal right that would typically give rise to 8§
1983 liability. Therefore, a strong presunption arises that
Congress intended to allow renedi es under 8 1983 for violations
of that statute, and the burden rests wth the Defendants to show

ot herw se. See olden State Transit Corp. v. Cty of Los

Angel es, 493 U. S. 103, 107 (1989); see also Johnson v. Or, 780

F.2d 386, 395 (3d Cir. 1986) (stating that “ruling out certain
remedi es” is appropriate “only when it can be clearly inferred
t hat Congress intended their preenption.”). The Defendants
contend, however, that Congress inplicitly intended to preclude

plaintiffs fromusing 8 1983 actions to renedy violations of the

11



ADA. The courts have not been able to reach a consensus on

whet her the ADA' s enforcenent schene is so conprehensive that it
evi dences Congress’s intent to foreclose § 1983 actions.?®
Nonet hel ess, the Court finds that the ADA's enforcenent schene
precludes litigants from al so seeking renedi es under 8§ 1983. The
statutory schene of the ADA is clearly conprehensive; allow ng
plaintiffs to sue under 8§ 1983 woul d not add anything to their
substantive rights, other than allowing themto obtain attorney’s
fees and circunvent the statute’s admnistrative procedures by

proceeding directly to federal court. Holbrook v. Gty of

Al pharetta, 112 F.3d 1522, 1531 (11th Cr. 1997). The argunent

that the statute is not conprehensive without its adm nistrative
regul ations msses the mark, as the regul ations are antici pated

and enabled by the statute itself. But see Ransomv. Arizona Bd.

8 Mbst courts to consider this question have found that
Congress did not intend to allow plaintiffs to renedy viol ations
of the ADA by bringing suit under 8 1983. See Al sbrook v. Gty
of Maunelle, 184 F.3d 999, 1011-12 (8th Cir. 1999) (precluding 8
1983 action); Pona v. Cecil Wittaker’'s, Inc., 155 F.3d 1034,
1037 (8th Cir. 1998) (sane) ; Holbrook v. Cty of Alpharetta, 112
F.3d 1522, 1530 (11th Cr. 1997) (sane); Kagan v. Nevada, 35 F
Supp. 2d 771, 772-73 (D. Nev. 1999) (sane); Meara v. Bennett, 27
F. Supp. 2d 288, 291-92 (D. Mass. 1998) (sane); Coffey v. County
of Hennepin, 23 F. Supp. 2d 1081, 1089-90 (D. M nn. 1998); Houck
v. City of Prairie Village, 978 F. Supp. 1397, 1405 (D. Kan.
1997); Krocka v. Bransfield, 969 F. Supp. 1073, 1090 (N.D. I11.
1997) (sane); see also Metzgar v. Lehigh Valley Hous. Auth., No.
98-3304, 1999 W 562756, *4 (E.D. PA July 27, 1999) (sane). But
see Ransomyv. Arizona Bd. of Regents, 983 F. Supp. 895, 903 (D
Ariz. 1997) (allowing 8§ 1983 action), and |ndependent Hous.

Servs. v. Fillnmore Gr. Ass’'n, 840 F. Supp. 1328, 1345 (N.D. Cal.
1993) (sane).

12



of Regents, 983 F. Supp. 895, 904 (D. Ariz. 1997). Second, the

ADA contains no savings clause that would allow 8 1983 cl ai ns
despite an otherw se conprehensive statutory schene. The Court
therefore finds that plaintiffs nay not bring 8 1983 actions for
violations of the ADA.° Accordingly, the Court will enter
judgnment in favor of the Defendants on Wesley' s clains under §

1983.

° Because the Court finds that Wesley cannot nmaintain his §
1983 actions agai nst the Defendants, the Court will not reach the
guestion of whether the Defendants enjoyed qualified i munity, as
a matter of law, for their actions.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

RONALD B. WESLEY : ClVIL ACTI ON
V.
DONALD T. VAUGHN, et al . : No. 99-1228
ORDER
AND NOW this day of February, 2001, in

consi deration of the Renewed Motion for Summary Judgnent filed by
t he Defendants, Donald T. Vaughn, WIlIliam D. Conrad, Tyrone
Reddi ck, Eric Thonpson, Janes Yankura, Robert Caval ari and
Ri chard El dridge (Doc. No. 25), and the Response thereto filed by
the Plaintiff, Ronald B. Wesley, it is ORDERED that:
1. The notion is GRANTED I N PART

A Judgnent shall be ENTERED in favor Defendants
Caval ari and Yankura and agai nst the Plaintiff.

B. Judgnment shall be ENTERED in favor of the remaining
Def endants and against the Plaintiff on Plaintiff’s clains under
42 U.S.C. § 1983 (1994).
2. Wth respect to the Plaintiff’s clains under the Anericans

with Disabilities Act, 42 U S. C. 88 12131-12134 (1994),

Def endants’ notion is DEN ED



BY THE COURT:

JAMES M@ RR KELLY, J.



